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INTRODUCTION

Transport has traditionally been considered as a crucial factor behind the progress of any
country and its society. Without proper connectivity mobility, society becomes stagnant.
The transport system and its various modes have evolved through the ages. The
development of technology facilitated improved mobility and also reduced the distances
between various parts of the world to a great extent. The gradual development of modern
transport system ushered in an era of significant human interactions® and also helped to

initiate a continuous process of socio-cultural development.

The nineteenth century witnessed two significant global phenomena, one was the
development of industrial technology in Europe and the other was the aggressive
colonisation of various parts of the world by the European powers.? With the advent of
global maritime trade, various modes of mechanised units came to the fore. As the
European naval forces took centre stage, they started manufacturing and using big sea
vessels which would later be replaced by their own technologically advanced steamboats
and steam powered ships.® On land, to support the phenomenon of urbanisation and its
necessity for a dedicated transport infrastructure, modern horse-drawn carriages were
used in the burgeoning urban settlements. The juggernaut of development kept
progressing through the emergence of modern railways, tramways and automobiles.
These technologically superior modes of transport would gradually replace their
predecessors. The inventions of these modern modes of transport shaped the era of
colonialism, as these were utilised by the Europeans to colonise vast stretches of Asia and
Africa. For Great Britain in particular, the Industrial Revolution turned out to be a
watershed as this period catapulted them to new heights by empowering them with the

most modern forms of technology. Fuelled by their newfound technological superiority,



they set out to rule the world and the fruits of the Industrial Revolution put them ahead of
other European powers in the race to colonise the world.* They had at their disposal,
modern steamboats to penetrate the interiors of Asia and Africa, medicines to provide
protection to their personnel in the harsh tropical terrains and modern weaponry to fight
in any conflict with the natives. These technological marvels helped the British to gain an

upper hand and establish prized colonies in places like India.

Although, initially the British arrived in the garb of merchants and traders in India,
their real intention was to conquer the subcontinent and establish their premier colony
here. They eyed the fertile deltaic plains of the Ganges and the Brahmaputra located in
the eastern part of India in the province of Bengal. After defeating the ruling Nawabs of
Bengal through a sustained and effective campaign of imperialistic warfare, the British
settled here. They set up the city of Calcutta on the banks of the river Hooghly.® As
Calcutta became the focal point of the British campaign in India, the Company realised
the need to develop an effective network of communication to access all the major parts
of the subcontinent from this place. Hence, they started setting up a dedicated transport
infrastructure. This was crucial for them to reach even the extreme corners of the
subcontinent and the places they considered to be strategically significant for their future
ambitions. Initially in absence of proper roadways, they utilised the waterways of Calcutta
and Bengal. Later, modern roads and railways were constructed which not only connected
distant places, but also provided faster mobility for the British forces. Technologically
superior modes of transport like tramways and automobiles were later introduced by the

British in the city of Calcutta to make the city more habitable for their own community.

The introduction of various modern forms of technology in the colonies directly
affected the lives of the local population. On one hand, the colonisers were taking these

steps, like developing the transport infrastructure to help their colonial ambitions. But on
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the other hand, these activities enabled the natives to have direct interactions with the
modern forms of technology. The things which they had never seen or witnessed before
became an integral part of their daily lives. This is what I have focused on in this work of
mine and I have selected my hometown, Calcutta as the area of my study. My interests
have been predominantly in the history of transport and mobility and in this work of mine
I have tried to explore the socio-cultural impacts of the development of surface transport

in Calcutta during the colonial period.

The advent of British rule ushered in an era of imperialism that featured advent of
modern transport technologies in the Indian subcontinent. The British East India
Company arrived and settled primarily in the eastern province of Bengal. They set up the
city of Calcutta that comprised initially of three villages which later grew on to become
one of the leading urban centres in the British Empire and as well as of the whole world
in the nineteenth century. Since, it was the seat of the mighty British Empire in this part
of the world, it enjoyed the rewards of modernity showered on it by the colonial
administration. The British were settling at that time with a long-term goal of ruling over
India and they wanted to do so from Calcutta. So, they set up their base of operations in
Calcutta and gradually, various administrative departments were set up here. As Calcutta
became the focal point of their campaigns in India, the British administration realised the
need to develop modern communications to and from the city. They wanted to access all
the major parts of the country from Calcutta. The British had been eyeing various other
regions of India where they wanted to spread their colonial rule and control. So, in order
to make this a reality, the first and foremost thing they needed was the establishment of a
proper transport network that would serve even the extreme corners of the subcontinent
and they would be able to access those places from their base of operations in Calcutta.

The southern riverine delta region of Bengal with its numerous rivers, creeks and canals



was known for its network of navigable waterways since the ancient period. Ports like
Tamralipta, and Saptagram had flourished much earlier and were famous as centres of
maritime activities and trade and commerce. These ancient ports had intricate connections
with their respective hinterlands through various riverine transports. Calcutta also
maintained connectivity with the north through its rivers. The primary pathway was the
Ganga and travelling upstream from Calcutta in boats was the chief source mode of
transport. Various types of river boats were employed on the Ganga to transfer people,
goods and other items of trade and commerce.® Big and small passenger and goods
carrying boats used to navigate on the Ganga. A kind of small boat named Pansi was used
to ferry people when number of passengers and distance of travelling were less.” The
word Pansi was derived the English term Pinnace. Another kind of comparatively bigger
boats was called Bajra which carried passengers as well as a considerable amount of
goods. Bajra was coined from the English word Barge. The other varieties of boats that
developed in this era were namely Bhaule, Kisti, Bhor. Bhaule was primarily used by the
indigenous elite. These boats provided sitting, eating and sleeping facilities for their users,
thus evidently making it very popular for the members of the native elite. Kisti and Bhor
were much bigger boats meant to carry goods and trading materials.® These were the
mainstays of transport in Calcutta and Bengal until the arrival of the British. In spite of
its vast expanse of marshy lands, roads and pathways were built by rulers like Sher Shah
in the pre-colonial times, especially in the medieval period when a number of long-
distance land routes were built connecting this region with the seat of power in the north.
Indigenous bullock carts for the common people and palanquins for the elite were the
principal modes of transport on these old land routes. The British came to Bengal with an
advanced technology of transportation as a result of the Scientific Revolution and the

subsequent Industrial Revolution. Modern steamships, river and sea vessels came to



Bengal due to the ever-burgeoning trade activities of the East India Company. The
Company vessels navigated the Hooghly and the other rivers of this region as they
serviced the port of Calcutta, a major colonial river port of the then British empire outside
Europe. The riverfront of Calcutta developed significantly with the gradual expansion and
modernization of the port facilities under the tutelage of the British. The indigenous
vessels which were once the mainstay of transport were gradually replaced by the

technologically superior British vessels.

The onset of the British rule culminated in much better roads and pathways in the
city of Calcutta. The British developed the surface transport infrastructure to help their
own cause of colonization. The opening of new roads and renovation of the existing ones
resulted in the advent of vehicular movement in the form of bigger horse drawn carriages
known as Broughams. Thus, gradually the indigenous Palkis made way for the modern
Broughams introduced by the British. Palki or palanquins have been used as a mode of
transport in Bengal and India from much earlier times. Another indigenous vehicle was
the Doolee which was somewhat similar to Palki. Both these were primarily meant to
carry a single person and were predominantly used in the rural areas of Bengal in the pre-
colonial period. People belonging to the ‘Dule’ and ‘Bagdi’ castes carried the Palkis and
the Doolees.® The latter needed lesser number of people to carry it, being lightweight than
palanquins and hence had more usage because of being economical. It was said that the
Palki was a type of bed, six to seven feet long and three feet wide with a protective railing
all around. Sedan chairs were also introduced. People belonging to the elite class of
Calcutta preferred the Palki as their main vehicle of conveyance.’® The new class of
Banyans or the intermediaries depended on this Palki to attend their centres of
entertainment. In fact, Sukanta Chaudhuri has mentioned in his works that the women of

that era undertook bathing in the waters of the Ganga while sitting inside the Palki, while



it was completely immersed in the river water. At the end of the eighteenth century, first
instances of horse drawn carriages were found in the British community; at the same time,
Palki was also in vogue. Quite interestingly, with the advent of horse drawn carriages in
Calcutta, the number of palanquins did not dwindle initially; rather it maintained its
prosperity and was even used by many Europeans in the early years of colonisation. Then
came the age of horse-drawn carriages. In the British community of Calcutta, many horse-
drawn carriages were available but among them, five kinds of carriages were most
popular. They were namely chariot, Brownberry, Buggy and two varieties of palki-
gharries.** The chariot was big in size and very costly. It was used by the Governor, the
provincial administrator, judge, high ranking government officials and doctors. The
female members of their respective families would go to the ‘Garher math’ or the Strand
riverfront in the evening to enjoy the free-flowing breeze in those chariots. Another very
important carriage was the phaeton which was classified as a first-class carriage.'? The
landau, landaulet, tomtom, barouche, gig, tonjon were all examples of the tremendous
technological development that the British brought to the nascent city of Calcutta. The
most important of all these was inarguably the Brougham carriage, named after Lord
Brougham of England. It carried an aura and just like the modern steamships on Bengal
waters, it became a symbol of British imperialism; the Brougham carriages on the streets
of Calcutta exhibited the technological prowess and superiority of the British. The
hackney carriages stayed the longest on Calcutta streets. The wheels of those carriages
were layered with iron. The use of rubber tyres began in 1900. The carriages by then had
become the new symbol of aristocracy; they had become very popular and a common
sight in the British community of Calcutta in those days. A fown chariot was regarded as
a dress or court carriage, when highly ornamented. The French called this a coup’e. The

carriages had become the new symbol of elitism in Calcutta. Much rivalry was there in



the British community in Calcutta regarding these vehicles. A competition would go on
between them when it came to decorating their carriages. The chariots were the most
sought after carriage to ooze off royalty. They had great spring, deep bodies and excellent
quality hammer-cloth with a silver-mounted harness. Every young lady belonging to the
Anglo-Indian community in Calcutta desired to own a fine, gorgeous carriage of her own.
Any bachelor who owned such a vehicle were considered as the eligible to marry beautiful
young ladies of the community. Such a history reflects the cultural and social customs
that became prevalent in the city of Calcutta as a result of the advent of these modern

modes of surface transport.

The development of surface transportation system of Calcutta reached another
dimension with the introduction of trams on 24th February, 1873.% The initial trams were
drawn by horses which would later be replaced by their electric driven counterparts. The
first tram line of Calcutta was planned was to run from Sealdah to the Hooghly river
through Bowbazaar and then the line would meander in the northward direction passing
through Armenian Ghat, Aheeritollah Ghat, Shobhabazaar and finally ending at Chitpore
Bridge after crossing the municipal railway line at Baghbazaar. The tramcars were to be
drawn by horses. The line was completed in February, 1873 at an estimated cost of about
1.5 lakhs. The line originated from Sealdah, passed through Baithakkhana, Bowbazaar,
Dalhousie Square, through the premises of the Customs House and onto the Strand Road
where it ran till Armenian Ghat. Thus, Sealdah and Armenian Ghat became the two
terminuses of the nascent tramway. The line was inaugurated on 24th February, 1873.21t
was a watershed in the history of development of modern urban commutation system in
Calcutta. The line was opened for passengers only and not goods as originally decided.
On 2nd October, 1879, an agreement was signed between the Calcutta Corporation and

the newly constituted Calcutta Tramways Co. Ltd. The Company was the business



venture of Dillwyn Parish, Alfred Parish and Robinson Sutter. This new Company got the
rights to build and maintain the tram lines and also set up necessary sidings as well as
connections on all the prescribed eight routes. A very significant event took place in May,
1882 when the first steam engine pulled tramcar was driven on the Chowringhee section
for one month on an experimental basis. Further modernisation of the tramways was
achieved in the year 1902. The electrification of tram tracks was completed on 19th
November 1902. The very first electric tram ran on the Kidderpore line in that year from
Esplanade to Kidderpore.'® The second electric tram ran on the Kalighat line; the next
one ran from Wellington Street to Bow Bazaar and Dalhousie. The next route to have
electrified tram was the Dharamtolla line. New lines were opened in the years 1903-1908.
Tollyganj, Belgachhia, Baghbazaar, Harrison Road, Lower Circular Road, Alipore and
Behala got tram routes during this period. The first electric tram on the Sealdah route
travelled from Sealdah to High Court via Harrison Road and Strand Road in 1905. The
tracks from Sealdah were extended till Rajabazaar in 1910. The Park Circus line was
inaugurated in 1925, the Rashbehari Avenue line in 1928, the Upper Circular line from
Rajabazaar to Shyambazaar in 1941 and the Park Circus to Ballyganj line in 1943.1® By
1914, the Calcutta tramway had around thirty miles of tracks and rolling stock comprising
of 245 motors and 245 trailers. After the electrification of trams in Calcutta, the total area
of the network measured 85188 feet of lines, out of which 1920 feet were used no more.
The first Manager of the Company was Mr. Maples, followed by Mr. Martyn Wells. The
role of trams in the development of Calcutta as a city is immense. It was the one of the
most significant technological inventions that affected the modernisation of the city and
was inarguably the best scientific turnaround for the nascent transport system of the city
that developed under the patronage of the ruling British. The service it provided was

unparalleled. As a result, even with the emergence of newer and more technologically



superior forms of transport like automobiles, the status of trams as the primary ‘people
mover’ did not change for a long time. In fact, for a long time, it was the primary mode
of mass transport in colonial Calcutta, unfazed by newer inventions in the sector, as it
itself in its heydays was considered as an engineering marvel in the field of transportation.
Thus, without any doubt, it was a pioneer in mass commutation system in urban Calcutta
outside the sphere of suburban railway system. The society and its cultural practices of
Calcutta were also deeply influenced by the arrival of the trams. They were not mere
mechanical and technological marvels of engineering; they became symbols of this
burgeoning city. They denoted or defined the tremendous development Calcutta as a city
witnessed in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries when from a modest beginning of a
settlement of three rural, primitive villages Calcutta was transformed into a truly modern

urban settlement of the era, as the ultimate finished product of the ‘Transport Revolution’.

The first automobile was seen on the streets of Calcutta in 1865. Various types of
motor cars, designed and made by the leading automobile manufacturers of the world
were seen in Calcutta in those days. The latest and most upgraded, modern versions of
those cars ran on the streets of Calcutta adding a whole new dimension to the
technological development and evolution it had witnessed from the eighteenth century.
Automobiles from world famous car brands like Ford, Chevrolet, Humber, Vauxhall,
Wolseley, Dodge, Buick, Austin, Studebaker, Morris, Oldsmobil, Opel, Citroen, etc.!’
plying on the streets of Calcutta was a common sight for the contemporary residents. The
first motor-car taxi plied in Calcutta in the year 1906. The French Motorcar Company had
its office at the Chowringhee Road. Taxis would run on meter from here to all directions
of Calcutta.'® They would even go to the peripheral regions of the city like Dum Dum,
Barrackpore, Budge Budge. The standardised fare was eight annas per mile. The drivers

were mainly Bengali people who enjoyed good pay and decent commissions. But



gradually with time, their undisciplined lifestyle and heavy drinking made them irregular
and irresponsible drivers. Thus, after a certain point of time, the Bengalis were replaced
by Sikhs who proved to be far better and dependable drivers. At the very end of the British
reign, the taxi fare in Calcutta was a minimum of eight annas and for every quarter mile
it was two annas. The first motorised bus started to operate in Calcutta in 1922.1° The
introduction of buses in Calcutta happened due to several reasons. Starting from the
previous decade, Calcutta was rocked by the ongoing national movements against the
British. Mahatma Gandhi had launched the Non-Cooperation movement that resulted in
strikes being observed by the tram workers on a regular basis. Tram services were hit and
the daily commuters had to face a lot of problems in those turbulent times in absence of
the most effective conveyance system.?° In this backdrop, the companies and firms which
had goods-carrying motorised lorries, made temporary sitting arrangements on them to
facilitate conveyance for the officials, employees and personnel. There were a few
designated stoppages from where the ‘babus’ of these companies were collected by these
converted lorries and transferred to their destinations. These vehicles did not have low
floors making it difficult for middle aged persons to climb aboard. In this scenario,
realising the prospect of making profits, the lorry owners obtained the necessary
permission from the office of the Police Commissioner of Calcutta to run these vehicles
as means of transporting passengers. Benches for sitting were placed on the floor or the
lorries and ladders were installed to make climbing aboard easy for the passengers. The
roofs were covered to protect the passengers from the blazing tropical sun. The passengers
had to purchase tickets to ride on these vehicles. The system proved to be very profitable,
prompting the Commissioner to issue more such permits to the lorry owners. A very
important event in this regard was the launch of public buses by Walford Company.?

Within a short span of time, they became the major bus operator in Calcutta and it is this
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Walford Company which introduced double-decker buses in Calcutta. The main bus depot
was located near Lalbazaar, towards the east of Bentinck Street. The double-decker buses
of Walford Company did not have a roof on its upper deck which made journey
comfortable for its passengers during the summers with an open deck offering a lot of air.
During the monsoons, people would be seen sitting with their umbrellas over their heads
in times of torrential downpour. Such was the popularity of these buses, that many people
would travel from Kalighat to Shyambazaar and back just to enjoy the comfortable ride
it provided for its passengers. The first double-decker bus of the Walford Company started
operating in the year 1926. At one time, they had around sixty-five buses operating in
Calcutta. A Muslim gentleman by the name of A. Sovan was the first to start bus
operations between proper Calcutta and its downtown and peripheral areas. The bus
services introduced by him between proper Calcutta and its outskirts were however not
regular. In 1926, Walford Company took the initiative to operate buses from Calcutta to
its outskirts and surrounding regions. The Calcutta Tramways also started such services
and soon the other operating companies followed suit thus developing the connectivity

between Calcutta and those regions.

I have divided my thesis into four chapters, namely The Onset of British
Colonialism and Modern Transport in Calcutta, From Palki to Brougham: The Beginning
of'the ‘Transport Revolution’ in Colonial Calcutta, The Advent of Trams: A Watershed in
the History of Colonial Calcutta, The Emergence of Automobiles in Calcutta: A History
of Mobility and Development. In my first chapter, I have focused on the arrival of
steamboats and steam powered ships in Calcutta and how in the absence of proper roads,
the British utilised the canals of the city to ensure unhindered all year-round mobility
within the city limits and beyond. One might argue the need to a dedicate a chapter to

water based transport system in a thesis focusing on the evolution of surface transport in
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Calcutta. But to understand the ‘Transport Revolution’ one must learn about the initial
developments in the sector of transport. The water transport system was not to be the
mainstay due to the unpredictable weather and unreliable navigability of the rivers and
canals. The need to have a proper surface transport infrastructure and equally suitable
vehicles to ensure unhindered mobility of the British colonial activities was derived from
the shortcomings of the water transport system in Calcutta. In my second chapter, I have
discussed how the city of Calcutta witnessed a spate of developments in the sector of
infrastructure. New, modern roads were built to facilitate the horse-drawn carriages to
move freely on the streets of Calcutta. I have also discussed about the traditional Palki
and its social value and how it witnessed a change in its status after the emergence of
horse-drawn carriages in the city. The third chapter brings up that era of Calcutta when it
witnessed a very significant development in its transport system. The advent of tramways
in the city under the British patronage revolutionised the city and its local population, as
it went on to become one of the most glowing symbols of this burgeoning colonial city. I
have focused on the profound socio-cultural impact of the trams in Calcutta. The final
chapter is about the culmination of the ‘Transport Revolution’ as I delve into the world of
motorised transport and its emergence in Calcutta. The coming of automobiles completed
the revolution in every aspect as the city came a long way ahead from its primitive days
of Palkis and muddy roads to broad, metalled roads with gleaming automobiles running
on its streets and big tramcars providing mobility to the masses of the city. I have made
these chapter divisions to explain the gradual phases of change of this ‘Transport
Revolution’ and how one mode of transport slowly replaced its predecessor but each of

them had a very intimate connection with the people of Calcutta and the city of the soul.

In this work, I have tried to focus on the social impact of the technological changes

initiated by the British in the sector of surface transport. I have tried to portray how the
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introduction of various modern forms of surface transport in Calcutta directly affected the
lives of the local population. On one hand, the British East India Company was taking
these steps, like developing the transport infrastructure to help their colonial ambitions in
Bengal and India. But on the other hand, these activities also enabled the people of
Calcutta to have direct ‘interactions’ with the modern forms of technology. I have tried to
explore these ‘interactions’ by looking through the lens of the evolution of surface
transport. I have tried to project how things, which the people of Calcutta had never seen
or witnessed before became an integral part of their daily lives. In Calcutta, the process
of evolution of the city and its society was completely intertwined and the changes
happened in gradual phases. In the first phase, with the beginning of the colonial rule in
Calcutta, modern water-based transportation modes arrived. Not just the British East India
Company, but also the private merchants from Britain spent their capital to develop the
transport network here. Since it was just early days of colonisation and there was a dearth
of proper roads, the British decided to utilise the canals and rivers of Calcutta to get their
work done. These steps were taken primarily to ensure smooth and unhindered movement
of their own mercantile, administrative and military purposes. But it also helped to
develop the city of Calcutta by making all areas connected and helping settlements to
grow along these communication links. The foundation was thus set for the ‘Transport
Revolution’ to begin in Calcutta. I have discussed these in detail in my first chapter. As
the British gradually settled, they also had to make Calcutta habitable and connected to
ensure a network of seamless communication between the port, the main town, the
administrative and military quarters. They started constructing roads which paved the way
for horse-drawn carriages to come to Calcutta. While the process was continuing the
colonisers used the prevalent indigenous modes of transport like Palkis. But once the
horse-drawn carriages came to the fore, the popularity of Palkis gradually fizzled out. The

Bengali community of Calcutta which was so much dependent on this vehicle shunned it
13



for the modern carriages which became a status symbol for the elite class and a thing of
fancy for the common masses. I have tried to write this history in my second chapter. As
the city of Calcutta was developing under the British patronage, it witnessed an increase
in population due to influx of people from the rural countryside for livelihood purposes.
This made the city require a new mode of mass transport. Palkis and horse-drawn
carriages were not adequate to move masses, they were more of a personal mode of
transport. In this scenario, the advent of tramways became a watershed in the history of
Calcutta. In my third chapter, I have focused on how the trams provided faster mobility
to a huge number of people in a short duration of time, thus bringing the concept of public
transport to Calcutta. I have also portrayed how the tram gradually became a symbol of
the city as more than the colonisers, it became hugely popular among the local population.
I have discussed about how the trams soon became an integral part of their life and their
daily lives became centred around the availability and service of the tramways. I have
then attempted to show how the ‘Transport Revolution’ came to a full circle with the
emergence of motor cars in Calcutta. It was the third phase of the gradual change, which
I have incorporated in my third chapter. I have tried to portray how the private British
merchants popularised automobiles in Calcutta and how it became popular among the

elite class of Calcutta.

The Transport system of Calcutta witnessed tremendous changes under the
colonial supervision in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries. The colonial masters
attempted to establish created a modern city through the introduction of newer modes of
surface transport. The advent of modern horse-drawn carriages which gradually replaced
the traditional Palkis and the advent of the trams and automobiles in Calcutta shaped the
history of the city and its society. The city witnessed the emergence of various European

horse-drawn carriages in the early nineteenth century and later the trams and automobiles.
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The introduction of these new modes of transport revolutionised this region in a true
sense. The changes happened in a part of the world where a few decades back, existence
of such developed transport infrastructure was unthinkable. Social and cultural aspects
were deeply influenced by the arrival of the technological marvels like trams and
automobiles. This new surface transport system became intertwined with the soul of
Calcutta and the people who lived here or were settling here. It gradually started to define
their way of life and also ushered in a new age of social and cultural development. The
constant ‘interactions’ between these technological inventions in the field of transport and
the society of Calcutta created a new chapter in the history of Calcutta. The availability
of faster modes of transport extended the city limits, new pockets of settlements started
emerging in the peripheral regions and fringe areas of the nascent metropolis. The faster
mobility supported a new urbanising trend, which in turn led to the gradual growth of a
multifaceted social culture. This new culture can easily be separated from the Black Town
culture that was prevalent in the previous era. The ‘Transport Revolution’ that gathered
momentum during the colonial era gradually came to an end with the disruption of life
during the Partition. Through my work, I have tried to explain the history of the colonial
transport system and the subsequent ‘Transport Revolution’ in Calcutta — a phenomenon
which I have tried to examine with a critical analysis of the technological advancement
and its impact on the society and the reactions of the contemporary people to the path

breaking changes happening around them.
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CHAPTER I

The Onset of British Colonialism and Modern
Transport in Calcutta

The nineteenth century witnessed numerous path-breaking inventions in the field of
science and technology. But few matched the importance of the invention of steamboats.
This would leave a far-reaching effect not just on the history of transport and mobility,
but also on the history of imperialism and colonialism. The steamboat, which had the
power required to travel upstream at a great speed, carried the Europeans deep into the
heart of Asia and Africa.! The invention of steamboat bolstered the incursion of the
British forces into India and emboldened their imperialistic ambitions in the subcontinent.
The concept of propulsion of a boat by the power of steam originated a long time ago,
dating back to the seventeenth century, before the existence of any working engine.? In
the late eighteenth century, many inventors in France, the United States and Great Britain
started experimenting with the idea of steam-driven vessels.® Historians have generally
marked the beginning of the ‘age of steamboats’ with the journey of Robert Fulton’s
Clermont from New York to Albany on the Hudson river in 1807. It was a huge success,
both from commercial and technological aspects. It became instantly popular in the
United States, a country which was in dire need of such faster and efficient modes of
transportation. Its rugged topography comprising of mountains, deserts, dense forests and
endless tracts of uncharted territories hindered the movement of the animal driven
transportation system. Within a decade of this iconic journey, all the major rivers like the
Hudson, Delaware, Potomac, Mississippi and their tributaries and distributaries carried
regular steamboat services. In comparison, Europeans were less eager to use this new

form of technology as their primary mode of transport withing their countries owing to



various factors like traditional usage of roadways. Fuel was also very costly and required
regular supply from the mines. But quite interestingly, this new mode of transport soon
arrived on European shores. In 1811, Henry Bell’s Comet, a steamboat started daily
service on the Clyde river in Britain. In the next four years, ten steamboats started
operating on the Clyde as well as on the other rivers of Britain. By the end of the decade,
hundreds of steamboats plied on the navigable rivers and lakes of Europe. Gradually, the
Europeans realised the importance of steamboats in establishing and maintaining

domestic connectivity and soon they took their new mode of transport to their colonies.

The first steamer in India was a small ‘pleasure boat” made in the year 1819 for
the Nawab of Oudh.? The British who had settled in Calcutta by then started to bring their
steamboats to their colonial base of Bengal. The first ever steamboats were employed on
the Hooghly river in Calcutta to remove deposited silt from the riverbed. The boat had an
eight-horsepower engine and it was brought from Birmingham in 1817 or 1818. It was
lying unused in a Calcutta warehouse until the East India Company decided to use it for
the purpose of dredging the Hooghly river. It was hitched to a double set of revolving
buckets mounted on a barge. The engine basically scooped mud from the bottom of the
river to help big ships and sailing vessels with bigger drafts to navigate smoothly on the
Hooghly river. The very first steamboat to ferry passengers appeared on the Hooghly river
in 1823. Its appearance was the result of some interesting events. A merchant of the East
India Company who was based in China, was supposed to launch a steam powered vessel
on the Canton river. But he fell ill. Unable to initiate the launch, he sold off the parts in
Calcutta. These parts were bought by a group of British merchants in the city. They
distributed the shares among the main agency houses. The contract to build the wooden
hull was awarded to a leading shipbuilder who had also built superstructures of gigantic

European ships. A 132 ton side-wheeler was developed in the Kidderpore dry docks. It
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was propelled by two sixteen horsepower Maudslay engines. This vessel was christened
Diana and it belonged to Messrs Kyd and Co. Initially, it proved to be an extremely useful
vessel in the tidal harbour of Calcutta. It carried passengers in all kinds of weather and
natural conditions. Its inauguration was a remarkable event as it led to a significant
number of people belonging to the Bengali community massing on both the banks of the
Hooghly to watch it. It was also put to work as a tugboat. It used to tug big ships into the
shallow harbour berths of the Calcutta port. The port of Calcutta and the Hooghly river
posed many problems for ships, making it difficult for them to navigate smoothly. The
introduction of steam propelled tugboats helped the cause of the inbound ships which
needed guidance to follow the proper channel to enter into the dock area. But with only
thirty two horsepower combined in the two engines, it was not enough for Diana to tow
big ships that came from the high seas. The money generated from passengers travelling
on the vessels was not adequate to meet the expenses. Thus, the shareholders decided to
sell it. But there is no doubt about the fact that the capital of these British private
merchants and their business initiative set a trend, which would be followed by the British
East India Company in the latter years while developing the transport infrastructure of

Calcutta.

Next year, another such boat named Pluto was put into service. Pluto was
originally built as a dredger in 1822, but later it was converted to a paddle-steamer. It was
not long before other steam-driven paddle-wheelers like the Forbes, the Telica, the Comet
and the Firefly were operating successfully as tugboats on the Hooghly river.> The
introduction of these boats and their considerable success generated quite a bit of an
interest among the British private merchants of Calcutta. Due to the huge distance
between Great Britain and India, it was quite difficult to visit their country regularly. But

the arrival of this modern form of technology nurtured a hope in them. They realised that
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investment of their capital in tis sector might bolster the chances of establishing a
communication link between Calcutta and Great Britain. In 1825, the first steamer
embarked on the journey from Calcutta to London. Interestingly, a prize had already been
offered to the any shipping company willing to cover the distance in seventy days or less.
Responding to this opportunity, a group built a large ship called Enterprise. But this ship
had an engine that required a lot of fuel. It failed to make the journey in the stipulated
amount of time, taking a total of 113 days to complete the arduous journey. Although it
failed to get the prize, but it left a significant influence on future events and happenings
in this sector. It showed the British East Indian Company that steamboats and steam
power can be utilised to not only develop the general connectivity between Calcutta and
their homeland. But it can also be utilised to reach the extensive interiors of the Indian
subcontinent where other modes of surface transport will fail to reach. Transportation in
the Indian subcontinent was time consuming, posing a lot of problems for the British East
India Company. The muddy rural countryside could only handle bullock carts, caravans
and horses. These modes were also the mainstay of surface transport before the British
arrived in India. The river Ganga was navigable and passed through the heart of the
country and thus the British decided to employ their steamboats on this river from their
base in Calcutta. Slow country boats plied up and down the river maintaining the link
between various distant places. In 1828, Governor-General Sir William Bentinck
encouraged Captain Thomas Prinsep to begin the survey of the Ganges. Six years later, a
regular steam service was initiated from Calcutta to Allahabad. An iron steamer, Lord
William Bentinck, a 120-foot stern-wheeler with a speed of six to seven miles per hour
started navigating on this route. Within a couple of years, several other steamers started
to navigate on the river Ganga, namely the Thames, the Jumna, the Megna.® There were

passenger steamers as well as freight carrying barges. These steamers were faster than the
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indigenous country boats which required human effort and suitable wind conditions. The
steamboats of the East India Company took a mere twenty days to reach Allahabad from
Calcutta during the monsoons, and twenty four days during the summers when the water
level receded. But the high fare discouraged the natives to avail the services they
provided. The fare of a cabin from Calcutta to Allahabad cost thirty pound sterling, which
was equal to the cabin fare on a steamer across Atlantic or half the cost of a journey from
England to India. Thus, mainly, Company officials and British personnel, bishops,
missionaries, planters and members of the Indian elite class undertook trips on these.
Noteworthy statistics show that only 375 passengers travelled on a Ganges steamer from
Calcutta during this period. The rate of cargo transfer ranged from six to twenty pound
sterling per ton. This expensive rate also limited the amount of cargo and goods on any
Ganges steamer and they primarily carried merchandise and commodities of the British
community. Also, this steamer service carried guns and ammunition for the British army,
flints, medicines, legal and official items. All the goods were carried upstream. On the
return journey downstream, came documents and receipts from the entrusted tax
collectors working for the Company. When it came to private freight, only the household
goods of travelling officials and precious cargoes of silk, indigo, shellac and opium were
moved on these boats as they were the only items worth the cost of transport on
steamboats.” The British East India Company continued to run this service till 1844, after
which several private firms and companies joined in the fray to run services on this route.
But the river Ganga, her tributaries and distributaries were difficult for navigation because
of heavy siltation every year. Apart from this problem, factors like massive deforestation
in the upper catchment area of the river, continuous soil erosion diversion of water into
irrigation canals decreased the draft of the river. The Hooghly river and its mother, the

Ganga were both shallow and also unpredictable for consideration as an all-weather
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medium of navigation due to these factors. A proposal came up in the year 1849 to build
customised steamers with twelve inch draft and auxiliary wheels to tackle the sandbanks
of the Hooghly and the Ganga. But by that time another very efficient medium of

transportation had emerged in the form of railways, so the idea was eventually shelved.

Historically, there have been historically three routes between Europe and India.
The original route was the one that circumnavigated Africa. The other two were one that
went across Egypt, down the Red Sea and across the Arabian Sea. Another route was
across Syria to Mesopotamia, then down to the Euphrates and the Persian Gulf to the
Arabian Sea. The Portuguese merchants arrived at the port of Saptagram in Bengal in the
time period between 1530-1537. From there, they went upstream on the Hooghly river
between 1578-1580. The first business settlement set up by the British on the banks of
the Hooghly river was in 1651. Around this time, the Dutch mercantile community also
set up their own business settlement at Chinsurah, located on the Hooghly river.? The
Portuguese and the Dutch came in their 600 tonne sailing ships, known as Galley or
Galleon or Galleous. These ships were primarily made of wood. They entered the
Hooghly river from the Bay of Bengal navigating around the Sandheads area and travelled
upstream till Garden Reach or Betar. On the way, they negotiated sharp turns and shallow,
heavily silted areas of the Hooghly river. Later the Portuguese ships would go further
upstream to Hooghly (modern Hooghly district) and the Dutch ships would travel
upstream as far as Chinsurah. The Dutch had skilled pilots at the helm of their ships who
made their journey possible. But surprisingly the British naval forces were not able to do
the same thing. They literally struggled to move their ships to Garden Reach. The British
East India Company paid levy charges for their goods at a greater price than their
competitors, but still were unable to move their goods further than Garden Reach. They

eventually realised the root of the problem. They did not have skilled pilots operating
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their ships like the Portuguese and Dutch. As a result, the ‘Hooghly Pilot Service’ was
launched by them in 1668. A decade later, the first English ship crossed the region where
the city of Calcutta would come up later and reached Hooghly travelling upstream. The
ship named Falcon was led by Captain Stafford. After the British established the
settlement of Calcutta, the number of wooden sailing ships coming to the harbour of
Calcutta increased. They brought in people from the British Isles who started settling

here.

All these ships which were coming from Europe followed the usual route taken
by the Europeans while coming to India. The Cape Route around Africa was used by the
East India Company in the eighteenth century.® They started favouring this route more at
the beginning of the nineteenth century since it was safe. By then the Britain had swept
away the Dutch and French fleets from the seas during the Napoleonic Wars. This route
also involved no trans-shipping, no complicated trade relations with the Turks, Egyptians
and Arabs who traditionally acted as mediators since the times of Vasco da Gama. They
travelled on the Atlantic Ocean, circumnavigating the west coast of Africa. From the
southernmost tip of Africa known as the Cape of Good Hope, they turned north towards
India and navigated on the Indian Ocean and further on the Bay of Bengal to reach the
mouth of the Hooghly river. Here they entered into the tidal river around the Sandheads.
Although this was an age old tried and tested route, it took a lot of time. A few months
was the usual time required but sometimes even a year or so was spent to reach Calcutta.
Monsoon winds blow in the direction of the Indian subcontinent half the year and away
the other half. This natural phenomenon made sailing easy only in one season. Hence it
took about two years for the Company India personnel to complete a round trip. Not only
lengthy but the route was also quite dangerous due to pirate activities off the coast of

Africa. This discouraged women to travel on these ships and come to Calcutta.®
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An alternative route was being planned as a result of all these problems. Both routes
through the Middle East were called ‘Overland’ by the British. The one through
Mesopotamia offered easy sailing between Europe and Syria and again from the head of
the Persian Gulf to India. But in between lay a portion of the Ottoman Empire inhabited
by the xenophobic Arab tribes and somewhat unreliable Turkish administrators. These
factors made the route not quite dependable. The other connectivity through the Red Sea
Route had lesser political obstacles but almost uncontrollable weather conditions and
natural factors. The bottom of the Red Sea was dangerously studded with submerged
rocks and coral reefs, it had a jagged coastline and piracy was a big problem. Often
shipwrecked crews and their vessels were plundered by local coastal communities. Only
occasionally some European travellers who were brave enough to undertake that journey
would travel on this route.* Till the advent of steamships, the Cape of Good Hope Route
was the primary link to Calcutta and the Indian subcontinent. The Company, in spite of

having a huge fleet of ships were incurring losses due to the long voyage around the Cape.

An alternative route was thus devised which was thought to be less time
consuming. It was decided that the ships would leave England and travel till the historical
port of Alexandria in Egypt through the Mediterranean Sea. Then the route would shift
from water to land. The travelling people would undertake the journey from Alexandria
to Cairo on camel caravans. From Cairo, they would further go to the port of Suez located
at the mouth of the Red Sea travelling through the Egyptian desert. Here the route would
again shift to water. They would embark on shipping vessels headed towards India and
reach Calcutta crossing the Red Sea, the Arabian Sea, the Indian Ocean and the Bay of
Bengal. This route soon became known as the ‘Red Sea-Suez Route’. There is
considerable debate regarding the name of the person who first devised this alternative

route. According to one school of thought, this contingency was first planned by Captain
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James Henry Johnston. A book written by him titled, A Prospectus for establishing by
means of Steam navigation a Communication with Calcutta and the East Indies generally
via the Mediterranean, Isthmus of Suez and the Red Sea was published in 1823 by a
publisher, Mr. B. Binsley of Bolt Court, Fleet Street, London. We get to know from this
book that it was Captain James Henry Johnston who first planned this new route to India.
Captain Johnston who was born in 1788 was an employee of the Royal Navy. He fought
in the historic Battle of Trafalgar Square under the leadership of Lord Nelson. His
association with India began in 1817.12 In the year 1822, he decided to initiate a steamer
service between Calcutta and Suez on discovering the simmering interest generated in
Britain regarding steam navigation. He went to India to market his project to the resident
Anglo-Indians of Calcutta. They needed no prodding since they were already intrigued in
the matter by the performance of the ship Derna on the Hooghly river. A group of Anglo-
Indians had set up the ‘Society for the Encouragement of Steam Navigation between
Great Britain and India’. They set up a fund of 69,903 rupees. The Governor-General of
India, Lord Amherst, himself contributed 20,000 rupees, the Nawab of Oudh another
2,000 rupees and the rest was gathered from the business community of Calcutta. The
money was offered as a prize to anyone whose steamship could make four consecutive
voyages between Bengal and England at an average of seventy days per trip. This was
calculated based on the route through Cape of Good Hope. Johnson returned to England
to build the ship in order to win the prize. He found considerable backing and support
from several London capitalists and built the ship which was the first British steamer
designed for the high seas. It was 141 feet in length, weighed 464 tons and had two 60-
horsepower Maudslay engines. The Enterprise left the port of Falmouth in England in
1825 without even a trial run, as the builders were confident enough of its success. The

ship was too slow and after exactly 113 days at sea, it reached Calcutta. The ship was
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captained by James Henry Johnston himself. The steamship took almost twice the time
stipulated. Although the steamship sailed on calm seas, its speed was not more than 8
knots per hour. The ship had exhausted all its fuel reserves midway and as a result was
unable to use its steam engines. In fact, out of 113 days, it ran on its steam engine for only
63 days. Thus, the prize was not won and the enthusiasts in Calcutta were left
disappointed. The Bengal government bought her to use in the Anglo-Burmese war and
the society awarded half the prize to Johnson for his gallant effort.® After this incident,
he was appointed as the head of the department that looked after the steam shipping
vessels of the Company. As a result, it was he who established the steamship
manufacturing unit, dry docks where the ships were repaired, engineering units to develop
the steamships in Calcutta. He also conducted and directed the river navigation of those
steamships. By the end of the 1830s, with 600 horsepower distributed among nine steam
vessels, four of them being Ganges boats, the Bengal Steam Department eventually
outgrew its home. The accommodation boats named Jellinghee, Matabanga, Bhagurutty
and Soorma were built as well. Their decks stretched in length to 125 feet and were 20
feet broad. Their holds could take 4000 cubic feet of cargo weighing 40 tons. When fully
loaded, their draught did not exceed 20 inches. Between the deck, above the hold and the
upper deck, a space 7 feet high was divided into passenger cabins of assorted sizes. There
was also a dining saloon which was fashionably called as ‘cuddy’, bathrooms, pantry and
storage space, a butler’s room, a guard room and two cabins for the vessel’s officers. The
accommodation boat in tow of the Lord William Bentinck on the initial voyages had two
cabins, sixteen feet by eight feet with conveniences; a cuddy ten by eight; one nine by six
cabin in front and, in the forepart of the vessel, three cabins ten by six. Subsequent models
had a total of fourteen cabins for passengers. From the monsoon of 1834 to that of 1836,

the new iron steam tugs and their appendages made altogether nineteen trips from
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Calcutta up to Allahabad, two going beyond on the Yamuna as far as Kalpi and Agra, and
one to Dacca in east Bengal. The usual high-water season route up the Hooghly was 68
miles upstream to Nadia and then along the Bhagirathi to its junction with the great river.
The Bhagirathi incidentally was open to steamboats only in the months of July till
October. During the other seasons, when the water was too low, the boats from Calcutta
dropped downstream to Mud Point, leaving the Hooghly to enter into the intricate network
of channels located in the Sundarbans. The depth of these channels was more or less same
throughout the year, subject to the tides. Some like Goodlad's Creek were so narrow that
a vessel the size of the Hooghly could hardly pass through without brushing both banks
at quite a few places. Rounding a sharp turning, the steam vessel once had its gig torn
from its stern davits by the projecting branches of a large tree'*. When all the Maudslay
steamers were navigating on these brackish waters, by the end of 1836, the Marine Board
could schedule a despatch from Calcutta once every three weeks. Frequency depended on
the number of days it took to make the round trip from Calcutta to Allahabad and back.
The length of passage each way depended not only on whether the boats were going with
or against the current, but also whether it happened to be the high or low water season.
While the short route was open during the rainy season of 1838 and boats were returning
from Allahabad within 35 days, they tried to start a trip on a fortnight basis. Normally in
dry weather, low water season, the average passage up took around 24 days and it took
15 days while returning back downstream to Calcutta. During the monsoons, when the
water level was very high in the channels and favourable winds helped to overcome the
strong currents, the journey upstream would take only 20 days. On the return, steamers
were literally swept down by the current, sometimes in little over a week. The Marine

Board could count on each steamer making around six round trips in the course of a year.
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Once the steamer service gained popularity, it became the most common mode of
transport for the officials of the East India Company. Cargo space was generally less. It
was a constant problem to eliminate unnecessary freight. With time, more and more
spacious workshops and repairing units were needed by the Marine Board to handle the
burgeoning maritime activities. Messrs Jessop’s repair works took a lot of time to
complete. They were also charging money at a much higher rate for their services. The
personnel of the department felt that excess money was being spent and any government
entity would have done the work at a much lesser amount. In 1837, eventually, the Marine
Board completed the acquisition of the late Mr. Kyd’s shipbuilding unit, located
downstream of Fort William. It was not until the Company’s river boats had pioneered
the difficult navigation and had proved their worth did other capitalists step forward. In
1837, a group of London entrepreneurs approached Lord Bentinck with a proposal.
Bentinck had then just returned from his tenure in India as her Governor-General. They
requested his patronage for running vessels on the Ganges.*® Controller James Henry
Johnston had ideas of his own about participating in a private steam navigation company,
but on a larger scale. He wanted to run steamers from Calcutta not only on the inland
navigation but throughout South-East Asia and as far as the coasts of Australia, their
prized colony. However, it was in the middle of the 1840s when the boats of the first
private company or rather companies were launched on the Hooghly river. The Ganges
Steam Navigation Company eventually introduced new models of these water vehicles in
Bengal, which were built on the principle of the Mississippi steamer that had ran
successfully in the United States. These steamers were larger and faster than the older
tugs and accommodation boats. These efforts stimulated a genuine interest in river
steamers amongst the British community residing in India. They no longer regarded

steamers as just another type of vessel, a by-product of Industrial Revolution but as an
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entirely new technology that was destined to enhance their powers. In 1825, Lord
Amherst, Lady Amherst, their daughter, Lord Bishop Heaver and his wife Lady Heaver,
the Harrington couple, Sir Charles Grey, Sir Anthony Butler, Mr. Elliot and several other
distinguished members of the then Calcutta based English elite met Johnston. The
Enterprise travelled upstream to the ‘melancholy point” on the Ganges and came back in
the evening. The government paid 40,000 pound sterling and bought off the ship.®
Johnston remained its captain till his death near the Cape of Good Hope in 1851. His
name got mention on the memorial wall for English sailors in the St. Stephen’s Church
in Kidderpore. Some are of the opinion that his name was actually Johnson and not

Johnston.

Although he planned the so-called alternative route, Johnston never actually got
the chance to execute it in reality. On the other hand, according to some other sources, it
was apparently Captain Thomas Waghorn who planned this new route in 1830. In 1830,
a steamship by the name, The Hugh Lindsay of 411 tonnage travelled from Bombay to
Suez under the direction of Sir Charles Malcolm. It was made of teak, 140 feet long by
25 feet wide and was powered by two eighty horsepower Maudslay engines. Malcolm
had instructed to store enough amount of fuel on this ship as the previous venture by the
Enterprise faltered due to shortage of fuel. In spite of this, the ship ran out of coal, her
fuel at Aden, completing only one third of the entire journey. Almost a fortnight was spent
to refuel the ship. Ultimately the ship reached London in a record 59 days.!” On the other
hand, the architect of the grand plan, Waghorn set up 3 hotels and 8 resting places for the
travellers in the desert of Egypt between Suez and Cairo. He also made arrangements for
camel caravans to carry goods and passengers and small barges and steamers in the Nile
and in the canals of Alexandria for the same purpose. Waghorn did this almost

singlehandedly with some meagre assistance from the Bombay Steam Committee. Fifteen
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years later in 1845, his plan proved to be a huge success when he reached London with a
ship carrying mail on 31st October after departing from Bombay on 1st October, a journey
that took exactly a month. Initially, the ship carried only mail but gradually with time it
got passengers, though a few in number at first. Regular passenger service started with
the opening of the iconic Suez Canal in 1869. Ferdinand de Lesseps, a French engineer,
was the man behind this technological marvel. The canal connected the Mediterranean
Sea with the Red Sea thus creating an alternative waterway between Europe and Asia.®
As a result of opening of the Suez Canal, the older or rather the original sea route
circumnavigating Africa via the Cape of Good Hope was abandoned. Also, the ‘Red Sea-
Suez Route’ became the second option as this Canal facilitated much faster mobility of
steamships and vessels. Thus from 1869 onwards, goods, passenger and mail all moved
between England and India through this new route. Between 1830 and 1840, the mail
ships were run under the aegis of the navy fleet constituted for the colony of India. In
1840, the Peninsular and Oriental Steam Navigation Company (P & O Company) signed
a trade agreement with the British Indian administration to regulate the mail ships
between India and England. This company had their agent instituted in a majestic house
situated in the Garden Reach area of Calcutta which faced the river bank where all their
steamships were berthed. Apart from their agent, they also had their Indian headquarters
located in Garden Reach. The company’s property in Garden Reach included eight two-
storied houses here as well as their ship repairing workshop and some huge warehouses.
Mail ships set sail twice per month. There existed two routes primarily. One was the direct
sea route to Suez where the ships went from Calcutta to Suez. The other route was partly
overland where goods, passengers and mail travelled from Calcutta to Bombay. On this
route they availed the railway line (which covered only a part of the distance) and the

remaining distance was covered in mail caravans. From Bombay, steamers left for Suez
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carrying the passengers and all other materials. Before the Suez Canal was opened, these
passengers and the goods would be moved from to Suez to Cairo to Alexandria via the
newly established rail transport and from thereon to England by steamers and vice-versa.
After 1869, following the opening of the Canal, some ships of the P & O Company were
moved to the port of Bombay. Gradually this number increased and in a few years time
in 1882, only a handful of ships remained in Garden Reach. After some more years, those
ships too were moved to Bombay. P & O Company also shifted their base to Bombay.
From their new base of operations, the company operated ships between England and
India on a fortnight basis. The then number 23 berth of Garden Reach harbour hosted
another famous shipping company of that era, the French Compagni des Messegeries
Maritimes de France. The Armenian Apcar Co. and the British Jardine Skinner Co. had
also set up their bases in Garden Reach, Calcutta from where they operated ships between
Calcutta and China.'® These were primarily the main modes or systems of transportation

between Calcutta and the West.

The paddle-boats always would generally leave frothy wakes across the blue
waters of the Bay and would stir up the mud of Hooghly as far as Calcutta. With time,
plans were made to develop the upcountry navigation of Bengal. David Scott was the
pioneer of this idea. Lord Amherst had sent him as an agent to the North-East Frontier
when the Anglo-Burmese war started. The North-East frontier territory was spread over
an extensive mass of land- ranging from Sikkim country in the north to Cachar and Sylhet
in the south and covered the entire area of Assam. The total area stretched for 400 miles.
It was primarily an agricultural valley sixty miles in width along the great Brahmaputra
river, flanked by dense forests and forest infested hills. In order to access the region from
Calcutta, one had to avail the three land routes available, which became impossible to

traverse in the monsoons. There was an alternative water through the Sundarbans that
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took thirty three to forty three days in winter or during the monsoons through
Mathabhanga and Jalangi when there was enough water depth for boats to travel. After
passing along the Ganga, the route led through to the Padma into the Brahmaputra and
thus into Assam. The riverine countryside was generally swampy and during the dry
season its rich black soil grew good quality crops for the Assamese cultivators. They lived
near their fields in the low-lying flood plains until the annual floods drove them from
their huts. By the end of the 1830s, there existed at the periphery of the Bengal plain, a
road between Goalpara and Gauhati which was passable in dry conditions only, that too
on horseback.?’ For majority of the year, the only sane option left was the river. Like
their counterparts on the Ganga, the boatmen operating boats on the Brahmaputra faced
similar problems, if not more. for instance, unlike the Ganga, the banks of Brahmaputra
were not densely populated. Rather it was mostly not populated with only pockets of
settlements in some places. As a result, the banks offered not many beaten paths for
tracking. When the banks were flooded or inundated during the monsoons, the bamboo
pole became the only medium of advancing. Similar to the situation in the Ganges, here
also the local boatmen faced hardship in the form of unpredictable flow of wind
throughout the year which rendered the sails useless, while travelling upstream. Adverse
winds were an additional hindrance to the boatmen in overcoming the force of a current

which during August was estimated at four miles an hour.?

David Scott and Lieutenant Forbes sent proposals to improve navigation in the
Northeast by connecting it with Calcutta, to the Bengal secretariat. The proposal was for
two pairs of twenty horsepower engines fitted with copper boilers, paddle-wheels, shafts
and other apparatus to give greater amount of velocity to a pair of steam vessels drawing
less than three feet when loaded. One of the boats was to carry, in its cabins and under

awnings on deck, besides stores and coal or wood fuel, soldiers and their accoutrements
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weighing altogether fifty tons. A second vessel was to be used chiefly for towing cargo
boats loaded with provisions and military stores, and occasionally embarking troops. The
manufacturers were to be asked to send out working plans enabling Calcutta shipbuilders
to construct the wooden hills. They were also to provide two head engineers and two
assistants, bound by covenant to serve for five years. They were to be qualified to erect
the machinery, with the help of Indian workmen. Lieutenant Forbes had specified to
procure engines from Boulton and Watt, as he was apparently most familiar with those
machine parts. However, Henry Maudslay’s firm which had already supplied engines for
the Derna, the Enterprise, the Ganges and Irrawaddy, submitted a quotation lower than
that of Boulton and Watt. Maudslay proposed to supply two engines of fifty horsepower
which he thought would be ideal to withstand the swift current of the Brahmaputra.
Eventually the Company accepted the bid. The new steamers, Hooghly and Berhampooter
were launched in 1828 but were not used in Assam. Political reasons can be attributed for
this development. In the aftermath of the Anglo-Burmese war, the British felt that there
was no need to invest that much into Assam valley as it would eventually be restored to
a local raja in 1833. Basic transport facilities had to be there but not something special as
the Company felt that to be an unnecessary investment which would not result in lavish
outputs.?> However, the East India Company first took initiative to install modern
transportation infrastructure between Calcutta and other parts of eastern India namely
Assam, Dhaka, Faridpur, Khulna, 24 Parganas and the Sundarbans. In the pre-railway
era, the East India Company originally started riverine steamer services between Calcutta
and Gauhati in 1848. The India General Steam Navigation Company signed a deal with
the British Indian administration to run two steamers between Calcutta and the Assam
valley in 1860. The steamers were run on 6 weeks’ intervals. For this, government steamer

services in this route were withdrawn. The service would later be revived. The most
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important steamer route between Calcutta and the Brahmaputra and the Surma valleys
was the one that ran from Calcutta to Dibrugarh. It was open throughout the year and had
daily despatches of cargo, mail and passengers. These services ran through the
Sundarbans. The second route linked the seaport of Chittagong, which was considered
strategically very important by the British due to its presence on the Burma border with
Barisal through a tri-weekly year round despatch service. On the Cachar line, a third water
route extended from Calcutta to Silchar, open throughout the year. Depending on the
quantity of cargo, it had a weekly run. The same route deviated a little to the left after
reaching the Meghna river and reached Dacca and Narayanganj as the Calcutta-
Narayanganj weekly direct service. The main routes were generally kept open throughout
the year whereas the feeder services which ran through smaller rivers, canals and allied
water channels were seasonal. They would be open only during the monsoon, though
there were few exceptions in Cachar and Barisal. Quite significantly, in 1862, the Eastern
Bengal Rail inaugurated its Sealdah-Kushtia line.?® But before 1848, the only form of
modern connectivity between Calcutta and Assam was the river route and the big country
boats which were operated on them. The average duration of one such journey used to be
around 6-7 weeks. Not only Assam but in fact from anywhere in eastern India, river was
the main medium of transport and big country boats plied on the rivers carrying huge
payload of goods and other materials. The most common route followed by the boats was
from Goalundo to ‘channel creek’ river located south of Calcutta between the mainland
and the Sagar Island via Arial kha, Haringhata, Bhangar, Malancha, Raimangal,
Hariabhanga or Harinkhola, Gosaba, Matla, Jamira or Thakuran and the Saptamukhi
rivers. From the ‘channel creek’, the boats would go to a place called Mud Point located
approximately 70 miles to the south of Calcutta. Here the boats entered into the Hooghly

river and went upstream to Calcutta. This route as can be understood, was a long distance
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one and took quite a bit of time to traverse. Another aspect of this route was that it suited
the big steamers only. It was very difficult for country boats to cover this huge distance.
They had to navigate in very deep, rough waters close to the sea and it became very
dangerous and unsafe to navigate boats in those waters, especially in the four months of
the tropical monsoon season when the rivers became very rough. But connectivity was a
must between Calcutta and these regions as it was dependant on the rice and paddy
brought from Barisal and wood, timber supplies from the Sundarbans. Thus emerged the
need to create a new line of supply, a new medium of all-weather transportation to connect

Calcutta with the remote regions of its hinterland.

Major William Tolly came up with quite a brilliant and innovative idea. He
proposed to the government that he would dig up and refurbish the old, degenerated tracts
of the Adi Ganga and use it to connect Kidderpore harbour area with the intricate riverine
network of south Bengal.?* Which in turn will facilitate smooth, undisturbed and an all-
weather navigational network from Assam, eastern Bengal, 24 Parganas and the
Sundarbans. The British government agreed to the proposal and gave him permission to
dug the canal, right to extract toll tax from the boats that will navigate on the canal and
also the permission to set up a marketplace on its banks. Tolly started excavating the canal
in 1775, finished the work in 1776 and opened it for boats and river traffic in 1777. The
earlier flow of Adi Ganga was from its connecting place with the Hooghly river at
Hastings from where it went towards the east for 8 miles till Garia from where it went
towards the south. Major Tolly changed the direction of the canal. Initially he dredged
the channel for 8 miles till Garia and increased its draft than before. Then from Garia he
extended the canal for 9miles till it met the then turbulent Vidyadhari river in the east.
This section did not exist before and the work was done entirely under Tolly. The Adi

Ganga now met the Vidyadhariin the east at the port of Tarda.?® Tarda was also known as
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Shamukpota. So, the canal named Tolly Nullah which exists till date (although it has now
become a shallow, polluted strip of water that cannot be navigated) extends from the
Hooghly at Hastings in the west for 17 miles to Shamukpota in the east. Before the
construction of the Tolly Nullah, the Adi Ganga was known as Surman's Nullah (8 miles
from Hastings to Garia) and before that it was simply known as the Govindpur creek.
Shamukpota or Tarda was located 20 miles to the southeast of Kolkata. In that period, the
course of Vidyadhari was in the south-eastern direction to Canning where it met the Matla
river. From there it went to Kalindi river through a network of creeks and canals. Kalindi
river flew to Basantapur, located in the district of Khulna from where Barisal was
accessible through a network of canals and rivers. The entire distance of this
abovementioned river path was around 127 miles which was much less than the distance
it usually took to travel to from Calcutta to Barisal in the conventional straight route,
which was almost 187 miles. Thus, the new route became the main route of river
navigation or rather it became the primary link of connectivity between Barisal and
Calcutta in the pre-railway era. This new route came to be known as the ‘Outer Boat
Route’ or the ‘Lower Sundarbans Passage’. The new route via Vidyadhari also made
connectivity with the northern parts easy. Bamanghata which was 14.5 miles away from
Calcutta became easily accessible due to the opening up of this navigation channel. In
this respect, | would like to talk about another canal that flew through the heart of
Calcutta. The existence of this canal was documented by the British when they first came
to Calcutta. This canal took off from the Hooghly near the Chandpal Ghat from where it
flew eastwards through Hastings Street, north of Dharamtolla Street, through Wellington
Square, crossing Circular Road, north of Entally and then flew south to Beliaghata from
where it went further south and finally ended in the salty lakes and marshes of Dhapa.?®

It came to be known as the Beliaghata Canal?’. The canal gradually dried up as was
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documented in 1800 when its portion between Hastings Street and Entally Road became
completely dry. Another reason that may have attributed to this decay was the
construction of new roads, houses and settlements that killed the canal in its upper
catchment area. But its lower section to Beliaghata still existed which ultimately was
filled up to construct the all important railway link to Canning and Matla in the south and
also the underground drainage system of Calcutta. This was in 1860 or 1861. In the east,
from Dhapa to Bamanghata flew a channel of the Vidhyadhari. It was called the Central
Lake Channel as it flew through the salt water lake of Dhapa and met its mother river at
Bamanghata from where it flew almost 14.5 miles southeast to Shamukpota or Tarda. In
1800, as | have mentioned earlier, the Beliaghata canal dried up. Quite significantly, the
Central Lake Channel dried up too thus posing a serious problem for navigation and
connectivity in these parts. The government in 1810 started restoring these canals in order
to facilitate mobility of goods boats from Shamukpota in the south to Bamanghata in the
north via the Vidyadhari and then through the Central Lake Channel to the Lower Circular
Road. Further developments were achieved in the years 1826-1831. In order to decrease
river traffic on the Tolly Nullah, a new canal route was constructed between Bamanghata
in the west and Hasnabad, located on the Ichamati river in the east. A small but efficient
network of six canals was built by dissecting the rivers that flowed north to south in this
region. They were then interconnected to facilitate a direct water route from Dhapa to
Hasnabad. In the later years, the Bhangar Canal was constructed in this route. This was
termed as the ‘Inner Boat Route’ or ‘Upper Sundarbans Passage’.?8 It is to be noted that
this particular channel had the draft to let small boats and steamers navigate unlike the
‘Outer Boat Route’ which was deep enough for big boats and steamers to travel on. While
work was going on the Bamanghata Canal, another project was going on in Calcutta to

construct one more canal, the Circular Canal. This project was the brainchild of Tiretta.
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He had advised Lord Wellesley to construct this canal, a proposal which was not accepted
then. Later in 1824, Major Schalch made a prospective map of this canal. But before he
was able to materialise this plan, he was killed in the Anglo-Burmese war in 1826. in
1829, after his death, work started on the construction of this canal following his map
only and was completed in the monsoon of 1833. Also in that year, the first lock-gate was
set up at the Chitpur where the canal entered into the Hooghly river. To the north of the
Chitpur Bridge, the canal originated from Ganga from where it went eastwards via Tullah
and Belgachhia, parallel to the Circular Road.?® It ends into the Entally or Beliaghata
canal in the southeast. When it was constructed, the canal had a minimum depth not less
than 6 feet in some places and average depth being minimum of 18 feet. Around 3000
labourers were used by the administration to cut the canal. Though the canal was not
circular but it was named so because it ran parallel to the Circular Road. Interestingly
with spread of settlement, extension of Kolkata and increase in trade and commerce, the
presence of the Bamanghata and the Circular canals was unable to handle the ever
increasing river traffic. The older canals became unable to handle any more boats, causing
in much congestion on these channels. To solve this problem, yet another canal was dug
in 1855-56 and the project was completed in 1858-59. It was named the New-cut Canal.
It extended from Belgachhia in the north to Dhapa in the southeast. This canal is non-
existent in the present era as it was wiped out in the post-Independence era to build newer
settlements of Calcutta. This new canal created an alternative route from the Hooghly
mouth at Chitpur to Dhapa. Another lock-gate was set up at Dhapa in 1883. Most of the
water-based connectivity between Calcutta and Hasnabad was created between 1826 and
1831. But gradually with usage and time, the canals started drying up due to the acute
problem of siltation and their drafts decreased to a large extent. The Bhangar canal was

constructed in 1897 to solve this problem with two lock-gates at the two ends,
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Bamanghata and Kulti. Much later in 1935, the lock-gates were abandoned. In the years
following 1897, the Central Lake Channel saw a steady deterioration due to the problem
of silting and soon it had to be abandoned. Another canal was dug up to maintain the
navigation channel between Bamanghata and Dhapa. This new canal was constructed in
1908-10 and was called the Kristopur Canal. It originated near the Aratoon jute mill and
went to the east of the salt lake region into the Bhangar Canal at Bamanghata. This canal
became the primary source of navigation from eastern Bengal to Calcutta after its
opening. Also, it was the last canal to be constructed to facilitate water connectivity with
eastern Bengal. In 1810, the stagnated Central Lake Channel and the Beliaghata Canal
were restored and reopened to facilitate transfer of various forest produces from the
Sundarbans like wood and timber for fuel, trunk of ‘Sundari’ tree, various leaves to be
used for thatching roofs of houses, etc.- items which were very essential. This entire
network of canals came to be known as the ‘Circular and Eastern Canals System’ and the
‘Calcutta and Eastern Canals System’.*° The network spread over 1127 miles, amongst
which the artificial canals constituted for 47 miles and the rest was made up of the natural
riverways and channels of southern deltaic Bengal. The Calcutta System comprised of
the Circular Canal, Beliaghata Canal and the New-cut Canal whereas the Eastern System
was made up of the Kristopur Canal and the other natural waterways. In the beginning of
the 19th century, the Central Lake Channel was called Eastern Canals, a name which was
there for a long time. Even after the new name was coined, the old hame was sometimes
used although in a different avatar. The network then came to be known as the Old Eastern
Canals. The British administration set up a separate Circular and Eastern Canals Division
under an Executive Engineer. Lt. Colonel H. Goodwin became the Superintending
Engineer of the south-eastern circle in 1852-53. In 1878, Mr. Isaac took up this post. On

the other hand, Major Schalch was the Superintendent of Canals and Bridges. Later,
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Captain Thomas Princep became the Superintendent of Canals in 1825-32. Mr. J. C.
Vertannes was the Superintending Engineer of this canal division in the eighth to ninth
decades of the 19th century. Galiff was the Superintendent and Toll Collector of the
‘Circular and Eastern Canals System’. His office was situated at Canal Villa, Galiff Street.
Captain Guthrie was the first Toll Collector of the canal. The very first canal from where
this entire network of canals developed, i.e., the Tolly Nullah was not much deep or wide
due to its artificial origin, which resulted in movement of small boats and lighter vessels.
The British government had given Tolly the right to collect toll for 10 years. So, when
Tolly died in 1874, his widow, Anna Maria Tolly sold the rights to collect toll to a fellow
British, Mr. John Wilkins. But his conducting of operations proved to be unsatisfactory
resulting in the government taking back the regulatory rights of the canal. It was declared
in the official gazette of the year that toll which was previously collected in the name of
the widow of Late William Tolly would now be extracted by the Collector of the 24
Parganas on behalf of the government. After this takeover by the administration, the canal
was developed to handle bigger vessels and volume of navigation increased. But the
problem of siltation stayed. It required regular dredging to maintain the steady flow of
river traffic on the canal. The condition of the canal worsened near Tollyganj where
regular de-siltation was done to keep it open. Gradually it became difficult to operate
steamers further upstream from Tollyganj. It was possible only during high tides when
excess water entered into the channel from Hooghly. The market or ‘Ganj’ which was set
up by William Tolly was located on the eastern bank of the Tolly Nullah, south of the
area where the historic Boat Canal of the Kidderpore docks merged into the Nullah.
Eventually, with the development of areas around the marketplace the entire region came
to be known as Tollyganj.®! These developments happened after Tolly's death and his

wife no longer held ownership of this market settlement. In the southern periphery of
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Calcutta, or rather few miles away from it, another canal emerged from the Tolly Nullah,
which flowed through Kaorapukur for 20 miles and ended in Magrahat. Before those
areas received the fruits of modern railway connections, the only medium of transport
was this canal. People travelled by boats on this canal to Magrahat which was 25 miles
away from Calcutta and another 31 miles on a thin strip of canal which connected
Magrahat with Jaynagar and Majilpur. What can be concluded from this discussion that,
Calcutta had got a total of three link routes with Barisal in eastern Bengal. One was the
Inner Boat Route, the other was the Outer Boat Route and the third was the original route
used by the steamers. The India General Steam Navigation Company and the Rivers
Steam Navigation Company had big steamers and modern steamships which they
navigated on this route. On this route, big steamships would travel 70 miles downstream
from Calcutta to Mud Point from where they would enter the 'channel creek’ situated
between mainland and Sagar Island. From there the ships would cross several canals to
reach Saptamukhi river. There on the ships would have to cross a network of rivers
including the Jamira, Matla, Gosaba, Hariabhanga, and Kalindi. The ships would reach
Khulna district on crossing these rivers in deltaic Bengal. From Khulna, the ships
travelled eastward to reach their final destination, Barisal. Thus, | have mentioned all the
canals and waterways that was under the regulatory control of the Executive Engineer of

the ‘Circular and Eastern Canals System’ and the ‘Calcutta and Eastern Canals System’.

Various kinds of boats would bring in commodities and goods from eastern
Bengal to Calcutta. Paddy, rice, fruits, vegetables, fish and other indigenous produces
were the chief items that came via the boats on these waterways. Huge boats carrying
wood and timber and also lime from the north-eastern provinces used to come to Calcutta
via these networks. Bamboo was another item that arrived through these routes. Burmese

made boats used to come from Burma. As it is evident, a huge amount of river traffic
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constituting primarily of river boats congested these canals. Boats which brought
consumable goods to be used in Calcutta were offloaded in the canals only. Whereas boats
carrying commodities earmarked for export and allied trading businesses had to move
into the Hooghly river to unload their cargo from where those were transferred to the
docks or directly to the ships. Huge warehouses were constructed on the banks of the
Beliaghata Canal and the Circular Canal. These warehouses handled and stored imported
goods. Thus, there was a constant flow of traffic due to the presence of these warehouses.
Imported goods brought on ships were either delivered directly to the marketplaces or
transferred to the boats for journey into the hinterland. Another major inflow of goods
was from the boats arriving from east Bengal carrying imported materials. The waterways
split into two different sections after Bamanghata. One section flowed to the south to
Jamuna river at Basantapur through Tarda and Kalindi river. The other section flowed
east through the Bhangar Canal and then met the Jamuna at Rajpur, almost 9 miles north
of Basantapur. The Vidyadhari river was at its best in the years 1830 to 1833- it had a
flourishing course during this period of time. It got further volume of water when the
Circular Canal and the New-cut Canal was constructed as it started receiving water from
the course of the Hooghly river. But decades later in 1883, the free flowing, turbulent
river saw a decline. This decline was primarily due to the creation the lock-gate at Dhapa
in 1883. The rate of decline was quickened after the construction of the Bhangar Canal in
1895-97. In 1897, the open canal was obstructed by the construction of two lock-gates at
its ends at Bamanghata and Kulti. The opening of Kristopur Canal in 1908-10 sounded
the death knell for Vidyadhari. It started to die a slow death. In the following two decades,
numerous attempts were made to revive and restore the once burgeoning river but those

efforts were not successful. Finally in 1930, the entire stretch of Vidyadhari from Dhapa
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to Port Canning (35 miles in length) dried up. The lock-gate at Dhapa was abandoned in

1927 and the Bamanghata lock-gate was abandoned in 1936.

It Initially, the British arrived with big sea going ships and vessels made of wood.
But gradually with their increasing foothold in the country and subsequent ascension to
the helm of the country, they brought huge steam